Applying Operations Research to the Inpatient Stroke Rehabilitation System

by

Olufolakemi E. Akpan

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of Master of Science

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia

July 2023

Dalhousie University is located in Mi'kma'ki, the ancestral and unceded territory of

Mi'kmaq. We are all treaty people. We recognize that African Nova Scotians are a

distinct people whose histories, legacies, and contributions have enriched that part of

Mi'kma'ki known as Nova Scotia for over 400 years.

© Copyright: by Olufolakemi Akpan, 20232

To the One in whom

I live and move and have my being.

List of Tablesvi
List of Figures
Abstractviii
List of Abbreviations Usedix
Acknowledgmentsx
Chapter 1: Introduction 1
1.1 Clarification of Terms and the Conceptual Framework
Chapter 2: Background 6
2.1 The Burden of Stroke in Canada
2.1.1 Definition of Stroke
2.1.2 Consequences of Stroke
Personal Consequences
Economic Consequences7
2.2 Overview of the Stroke Rehabilitation
2.2.1 Scales Used in Stroke Rehabilitation
2.2.2 Stroke Rehabilitation Branches
2.2.3 Accessibility to Stroke Rehabilitation
2.3 Inpatient Stroke Rehabilitation System 15
2.3.1 Admission to Inpatient Stroke Rehabilitation

Table of Contents

2.3.2 Assessment of Rehabilitation Potential and Goals				
2.3.3 Therapy in Inpatient Rehabilitation				
2.3.4 Discharged from the Rehabilitation Unit				
2.4 Operations Research in Stroke Rehabilitation				
2.4.1 Linear Programming Models				
2.5 Rationale				
Chapter 3: Methods				
3.1 Model Framework and Inputs				
3.1.2 Linear Programming Model				
3.1.3 Sensitivity Analysis				
Chapter 4: Results				
4.1 Main Findings				
4.2 Sensitivity Analysis				
4.2.1 Sensitivity Test 1: Therapy Time and Length of Stay Equation				
4.2.2 Sensitivity Analysis 2: Percentage of Cost of Therapy and LOS 39				
Chapter 5 Discussion				
5.1 Comparison to Previous Work				
5.2 Implications for Stroke Rehabilitation				
5.2.1 Increasing Therapy Time with the Primary Rehabilitation Team				
5.2.2 Increasing the Amount of Therapy with Group Sessions				

5.3 Implications for Policy and Decision Making	. 52
5.4 Limitations	. 54
5.5 Areas for Future Research	. 55
Chapter 6: Conclusions	. 56
References	. 57

List of Tables

Table 1: Alpha FIM Components
Table 2: Barthel Index11
Table 3: Items on the Functional Independence Measure
Table 4: Cost estimates for linear programming model
Table 5: Linear programming model
Table 6: Sensitivity Analysis for Decrease in m for linear equation for therapy time and
length of stay
Table 7: Sensitivity Analysis for increase in absolute m for the linear relationship
between therapy time and length of stay
Table 8: Sensitivity Analysis for Changes in the percentage of cost between cost of
therapy provision and cost of length of stay

List of Figures

Figure 1: Example of the use of ICF Model Terms
Figure 2: Stages of the patient flow through inpatient stroke rehabilitation
Figure 3. Reprint of the linear programming model components from Moreira (2003) 25
Figure 4: Graphical representation of sensitivity test 1 and the optimal solution (OS)
associated with each 10% increment. The optimal value for each scenario is shown with
dot. The solid line represents baseline scenario, and the dotted lines represent each
sensitivity scenario
Figure 5 Sensitivity Test 1 - Total Cost of Therapy and LOS in the Optimal solution 38
Figure 6 - Sensitivity Test 1: Optimal solution for total hours of therapy and total length
of stay
Figure 7 - Sensitivity Test 2 - Total hours of therapy and cost associated with the optimal
solution for each iteration
Figure 8 - Sensitivity Analysis 2: Total hours of therapy and cost associated with the
optimal solution for each iteration

Abstract

The Canadian best practice guidelines recommend stroke patients receive a minimum three hours of therapy per day in inpatient rehabilitation. However, few patients receive this because cost is considered a barrier. The purpose of the study was to develop a linear programming model to assess the tradeoff of cost and guideline achievement. The objective function was to minimize the cost of inpatient rehabilitation. Decision variables included the cost of therapy and length of stay. Constraints included hours of therapy and the relationship between the amount of therapy and length of stay. The optimal solution showed minimal cost when patients received 3 hours of therapy per day. This results in a 24.3-day length of stay, costing \$18,253.55 per patient. The Canadian average length of stay in rehabilitation and therapy cost an additional \$1,470.13, compared with the optimal solution from the model. This demonstrates that more therapy may result in cost savings.

Abbreviations	Meaning
ADLs	Activities of Daily Living
alphaFIM	Alpha Functional Independence Measure
BI	Barthel Index
DES	Discrete Event Simulation
ESD	Early Supported Discharge
FIM	Functional Independence Measure
HBCR	Home-Based Community Rehabilitation
LOS	Length of Stay
LP	Linear Programming
LTC	Long Term Care
mRS	Modified Rankin Score
NIHSS OT	National Institute of Health Stroke Scale Occupational Therapist
РТ	Physiotherapist
SLP	Speech Language Pathologist

List of Abbreviations Used

Acknowledgments

Thank you to my supervisors Dr. Noreen Kamal and Dr. Shaun Boe for their support, feedback, encouragement, and advice. This was a lengthy process and I thank you both so much for helping me to see it through to the end.

Many thanks to my committee member Dr. Diane MacKenzie and Dr. Peter VanBerkel for your expertise and guidance on the critical details of stroke rehabilitation and linear programming.

This thesis would not have been finished without the support of mom and dad, especially my dad who has likely read through it as much as I have. Shout-out to my fiancé for all the support during the times of stress and intense focus.

A huge thanks to my friends, physiotherapy classmates and the lab members of the Boe and H-COAL labs. Having a community around me was invaluable and made the experience so much more enjoyable.

Chapter 1: Introduction

A stroke occurs when there is a disruption of blood flow to the brain, either due to a blockage, known as an ischemic stroke, or due to bleeding in the brain, known as a hemorrhagic stroke (Truelsen et al., 2006). Stroke is the leading cause of severe physical disability worldwide and in Canada (Adamson et al., 2004; Canadian Stroke Network, 2011). In Canada, approximately one-hundred thousand stroke events occur each year with approximately fifty thousand resulting hospital admissions (Holodinsky et al., 2022). The burden of having a stroke is extensive, impacting all levels of society, from individuals who have experienced a stroke to the broader healthcare and economic system. Seventyfive percent of stroke patients will be disabled in some capacity (Ontario Stroke Network, 2012). The first-year post-stroke is estimated to result in an average of \$53,001 CAD (\$61,934 CAD-inflated adjustment for 2023) in direct healthcare costs for each patient. This cost to the Canadian economy is even higher when accounting for indirect healthcare costs. Individual patient impairments and healthcare costs are linked given that more disabling strokes result in higher direct and indirect healthcare costs (Mittmann et al., 2012). Stroke rehabilitation is one of the primary ways to manage the personal and economic burdens of stroke.

Stroke rehabilitation involves providing therapies and interventions that enable stroke survivors to reach optimal functional capacity (Hebert et al., 2016). This has an obvious impact on the quality of life of the individual, but also impacts the broader healthcare system and society. Fewer impairments, limitations, and restrictions following a stroke decrease healthcare utilization, reliance on social services for income, long-term care admission, and increase meaningful participation in society (Tyagi et al., 2018). The three primary ways to provide stroke rehabilitation are inpatient, home-based community, and center-based community rehabilitation. Center-based community rehabilitation involves stroke survivors accessing therapeutic interventions from an outpatient clinic; home-based community rehabilitation involves patients receiving rehabilitation at home; and inpatient rehabilitation involves patients living in a rehabilitation unit while receiving therapeutic interventions (Crocker et al., 2013; Langhorne et al., 2011; Laver et al., 2020).

The number of stroke survivors living with disabilities is expected to increase from 405,000 in 2013 to between 654,000 and 726,000 by 2038 (Heart and Stroke Foundation, 2019; Krueger et al., 2015). As the number of Canadians living with stroke-related impairments increases, it is critical to ensure that the stroke rehabilitation system is equipped to provide the required rehabilitative care. Evaluating the stroke rehabilitation system must include measures used to assess both the effectiveness of the treatment and the cost-effectiveness of treatment services to ensure that healthcare resources are used efficiently and sustainably (Langhorne et al., 2002). There are many ways in which the stroke rehabilitation system can be improved; however, this study will focus on inpatient stroke rehabilitation as it is the setting that requires the most resources.

Inpatient stroke rehabilitation is one of the more time- and resource-intensive ways to provide rehabilitation. It is designed to provide therapy for patients with moderate-to-severe physical impairments. Given space and human resource constraints, it is important that this system operates efficiently to avoid bottlenecks that negatively impact access. In Canada, it is estimated that 25% of stroke survivors who are eligible for inpatient rehabilitation do not have access to inpatient care, and delays in admission to rehabilitation

units can result in poorer functional outcomes (Willems et al., 2012). Once patients have been admitted, the majority do not receive the recommended amount of therapy per day, which results in longer than necessary stay within the rehabilitation units (R. Teasell, Meyer, Foley, et al., 2009; R. Teasell, Meyer, McClure, et al., 2009). When patients eventually complete their therapy, delays in being discharged from the unit due to factors external to the inpatient rehabilitation unit can result in rehabilitation unit beds being occupied by patients who no longer need to be in the unit (Tan et al., 2010). From admission to therapy time to discharge, efficient flow through the system is critical to ensure that inpatient rehabilitation can keep up with the increasing stroke burden.

Within inpatient stroke rehabilitation, the time spent with therapists is critical to ensuring that functional goals are met. As previously mentioned, the average patient in an inpatient stroke rehabilitation program does not receive the recommended amount of therapy. However, given the complexities and constraints of the Canadian healthcare system, the solution to this issue is not simply to provide more therapy time, as there is no unlimited supply of funds and human resources. It is important to account for the various factors that go into decision making when looking for solutions to complex healthcare problems. Operations research methodologies have been used to identify optimal solutions for complex healthcare issues, but to date (to the best of our knowledge) have not been applied to inpatient stroke rehabilitation and, more specifically, to improve suboptimal therapy time.

Therefore, the objective of the current work was to apply the operations research methodology of linear programming to the problem of low therapy time in inpatient stroke rehabilitation in the Canadian healthcare context. The outcomes of this model will include the optimal therapy time and length of stay to minimize cost. Chapter 2 - Background provides a background of literature related to therapy time for inpatient stroke rehabilitation. The purpose of this chapter is to provide the rationale for Chapter 3 - Methods, which focuses on the methodology of linear programming. Chapter 4 – Results, focuses on the results of the linear programming model. Chapter 5 – Discussion contextualizes the results of the present work within the existing literature, focusing on comparison of the results, implications and limitations of the current work and areas for future research.

1.1 Clarification of Terms and the Conceptual Framework

Before proceeding, it is important to establish the terminology used in this thesis. Various publications have used the terms 'therapy intensity,' 'therapy duration,' and 'therapy amount' to refer to the amount of therapy provided to a patient in units of time (Chan, 2015). Although these terms are commonly used in literature, it can be confusing to have such variability when translating research into clinical practice. For example, when it comes to exercise prescription and therapeutic parameters, physiotherapists use the term 'intensity' to refer to the amount of exertion required to perform a task. Conversely, 'time' refers to the total duration of the therapy in units of time. To avoid confusion or misinterpretation, in this work the term 'therapy time' refers to the amount of time a patient receives therapy as measured in units of time as it is a term that will be understood in both research and clinical application.

The International Classification of Function (ICF) is used to describe disability, which is conceptualized as "the outcome of a complex, multidimensional interaction between a person's health condition(s) and context" (Federici et al., 2017, p. 2347). Figure

1 describes the relationship between the components of the ICF model and an example of how that components may apply to a patient with a stroke. In this framework, impairment describes an issue at the level of body functions and structures. Limitations describe the difficulty of executing specific activities, and restrictions describe the difficulty of participating in meaningful life situations. Environmental factors describe facilitators and barriers to the functioning of a person, and although personal factors are not considered within the official model, they are an important consideration when describing disability.



Figure 1: Example of the use of ICF Model Terms

Chapter 2: Background

2.1 The Burden of Stroke in Canada

2.1.1 Definition of Stroke

A stroke is defined as a "syndrome of rapidly developing symptoms or signs of focal loss of cerebral function with no apparent cause other than that of vascular origin" (Warlow, 1998, p. 1). This can cause impairments in movement, cognition, perception and sensation. Due to the heterogeneous etiology of stroke, the type, severity, and duration of stroke related impairments vary significantly. As previously mentioned, fifty-thousand stroke events result in hospitalization each year and the number of Canadians living with the impact of stroke is expected to increase in the next 10 years. Given the high prevalence of stroke and stroke related impairments, it is important to not only understand the incidence of stroke each year, but also the impact of these impairments on the individual and broader society.

2.1.2 Consequences of Stroke

Personal Consequences

Stroke can have a significant impact on the health status of individuals. The extent, severity, and duration of impairments can vary dramatically among individuals, but they can generally be divided into cognitive and physical impairments. Cognitively, patients may have difficulties with memory, orientation, attention, and language. They are also at an increased risk of depression and dementia compared to the general population (Hachinski et al., 2019; Hackett et al., 2005; Kutlubaev & Hackett, 2014). Physical impairments include hemiparesis, difficulties with talking and swallowing, decreased motor control, decreased muscle strength, pain, fatigue, impaired balance, and disrupted

sensation. Both cognitive and physical impairments associated with stroke will impact a person's ability to participate in meaningful activities.

A study conducted in the Netherlands found that one in two stroke survivors had restricted participation in exercise, household tasks, and outdoor activities and did not return to work 1-year post-stroke (van der Zee et al., 2013). Another study found that 43% and 34% of stroke patients were dissatisfied with their ability to self-care and participate in leisure situations, respectively (Hartman-Maeir et al., 2007). And independence in activities of daily living (ADLs), cognitive abilities, and neurological deficits were significant predictors of return to work (Edwards et al., 2018). These participation restrictions can have a negative impact on patients' quality of life after stroke.

Economic Consequences

Broadly, strokes place a heavy burden on the economy. In Canada, stroke costs the Canadian economy \$3.6 billion each year, (Heart and Stroke Foundation, 2019), with the first-year post-stroke costing an estimated \$53,001 CAD per patient (\$61,934 CAD inflated adjustment for 2023) in direct healthcare costs. In the United States and Europe, direct costs accounts for the majority of economic cost associated with stroke, with approximately 70% of costs related to direct care and 30% of costs indirect (Di Carlo, 2009). When adding the economic burden of informal care, it has been estimated that stroke costs an additional \in 11.1 billion for 27 countries in the European Union (Di Carlo, 2009). Given the aging population, the total number of individuals at increased risk for stroke is rising. However, advances in medical care have decreased the mortality of stroke, meaning that more individuals are surviving after a stroke (Lackland et al., 2014).

The personal and economic burdens of stroke are immense and given the expected increase in individuals living with the consequences of stroke, we can expect that this burden will only increase. Stroke rehabilitation can play a vital role in mitigating impairments related to stroke and, consequently, decrease the personal and societal consequences of stroke.

2.2 Overview of the Stroke Rehabilitation

Stroke rehabilitation is used to provide therapy and interventions that help stroke survivors achieve their "optimal physical, cognitive, emotional, communicative, and/or social functional level" (Hebert et al., 2016, p. 460). Interdisciplinary teams typically provide these interventions. Physiatrists primarily contribute to the coordination of patient care and follow the patient from admission to discharge; however, the primary therapeutic intervention providers are physiotherapists (PT), occupational therapists (OT) and speechlanguage pathologists (SLP). The roles of OTs and PTs can overlap; however, PTs generally provide therapies to improve balance, gait, muscle strength, cardiovascular endurance, and coordination, while OTs provide interventions that target cognitive impairment, upper extremity function, and improve daily living, occupation, and leisure activities (Langhorne et al., 2011). SLPs provide therapies to improve language, communication, and swallowing abilities (Langhorne et al., 2011). Other healthcare providers, including psychologists, nurses, pharmacists, social workers, kinesiologists, nutritionists, rehabilitation assistants, and recreational therapists, can be involved in the stroke rehabilitation process (Richards et al., 2018). Given the multidisciplinary nature of stroke rehabilitation, it is important to

have categorizations and scales used across professions that allow for a common language when describing the impairments and limitations of stroke patients.

2.2.1 Scales Used in Stroke Rehabilitation

Broadly speaking, stroke survivors' impairments are categorized as mild, moderate, or severe. The National Institute of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS) indicates the stroke severity, while the modified Rankin Scale (mRS), the Functional Independence Measure (FIM), Alpha Functional Independence Measure (alphaFIM) and Barthel Index (BI) each measure functional capacity and activities of daily living. The mRS was used to determine the global outcomes for stroke survivors. Individuals are ranked from 0 (no symptoms) to 5 (severe disability) and are compared to their pre-stroke activities (Heart and Stroke Foundation, 2015). Due to the poor definitions and the insensitivity of this scale, it is rarely used to provide specific recommendations in stroke rehabilitation. Consequently, the FIM, alphaFIM, and BI are more commonly used to determine rehabilitation needs and progress in patients with stroke, while the NIHSS is used in the acute phase to quantify the severity of the stroke and change in severity after acute treatment.

The alphaFIM was specifically designed to assess the disability and functional status of stroke patients in an acute hospital setting (Ontario Stroke Network, 2015; Stillman et al., 2009). It is an abbreviated version of the FIM and consists of six components (Table 1). The administration of the alphaFIM requires certification (Ontario Stroke Network, 2015). The Ontario triage guidelines for post-stroke rehabilitation recommend that patients with an alphaFIM score greater than 80 (categorized as mild) should be referred to community-based rehabilitation, those with a score between 40 and 80 (categorized as moderate), and those with a score less than 40 should be referred to

inpatient rehabilitation or an alternative program such as restorative care (Ontario Stroke Network, 2015). AlphaFIM has been shown to be a reliable and a valid tool to measure functional ability in the acute hospital settings (Hinkle et al., 2010).

Table 1: Alpha FIM Components

Scale	Components
Motor Scale	Eating
	Grooming
	Bowel Management
	Transfers
Cognitive Scale	Expression
	Memory

The Barthel Index (BI) is used to assess activities of daily living in stroke patients. It is a 10-item instrument that measures an individual's level of disability in terms of activities of daily living. Two items have a 2-point system, six items have a 3-point system, and two items have a 4-point system, allowing individuals to score between 0 and 20 points. Lower scores indicate more dependence on caregivers for ADLs, and higher scores indicate more independence for ADLs. The BI has been shown to be a poor tool for assessing rehabilitation progress in stroke survivors, as it can be insensitive to changes in functional abilities and can suffer from ceiling effects (Duncan et al., 1997; Kwon et al., 2004).

Table 2: Barthel Index

The Barthel Index	
Bowels	3-point scale
Bladder	3-point scale
Grooming	2-point scale
Toilet Use	3-point scale
Feeding	3-point scale
Transfers	4-point scale
Mobility	4-point scale
Dressing	3-point scale
Stairs	3-point scale
Bathing	2-point scale

The FIM is considered the gold standard for assessing activities of daily living (Spackman & JG, 2016). It measures the severity of disability and rehabilitation outcomes (Black et al., 1999). The FIM consists of 18 items in six categories: self-care, sphincter control, mobility, locomotion, communication, and social cognition (Timbeck & Spaulding, 2004) (Table 3). The ability of the individual to perform each of the 18 items is assessed using a 7-point scale, which ranges from 1 - total assistance required to 7 - complete independence. The scores range from 17 to 126, with a higher score indicating a lower level of disability. The FIM can be further divided into a cognitive and motor sub-scale. To provide a FIM score, healthcare practitioners must be trained and certified.

Scale	Category	Components
Motor Sub-	Self-Care	Eating
Scale		
		Grooming
		Bathing
		Dressing – Upper Body
		Dressing – Lower Body
		Toileting
	Sphincter Control	Bladder Management
		Bowel Management
	Transfers	Bed, Chair, Wheelchair Transfer
		Toilet Transfer
		Tub/Shower Transfer
	Locomotion	Walk/Wheelchair
		Stairs
Cognitive Subscale	Communication	Comprehension
		Expression
	Social Cognition	Social Interaction
		Problem Solving
		Memory

Table 3: Items on the Functional Independence Measure

These scales, particularly the FIM, are often used to classify patients, determine their rehabilitation needs, and set realistic goals. There is variability in how the FIM scores are used to categorize patients into groups. Timbeck and Spaulding (2004) reviewed the literature on FIM use in stroke rehabilitation and found that different studies used different cut-offs for classifying patients as mild, moderate, or severe. Patients with FIM cut-off scores ranging from greater than 70 to > 100 were classified as mild, those with FIM cutoff scores ranging from less than 37 to less than 54 were classified as severe, and those with scores between the mild and severe ranges were classified as moderate. It is important to note that there is no universal definition for mild, moderate, and severe patient groups, and that various rehabilitation units categorize patients differently.

FIM has been used to predict the discharge destination and long-term care required after stroke rehabilitation (Black et al., 1999; Saji et al., 2015). Studies have shown that patients with a FIM score less than 50 at rehabilitation admission will remain dependent on caregivers for activities of daily living upon discharge (Timbeck & Spaulding, 2004). Conversely, patients with an admission FIM score greater than 90 are more likely to be independent in most activities of daily living upon discharge (Timbeck & Spaulding, 2004).

Since the impairments related to stroke are vast, rehabilitation post-stroke is also vast. Interventions aimed at reducing these limitations include physical fitness training, mental practice with motor imagery, music therapy, biofeedback, and electrostimulation (Langhorne et al., 2011). The stroke rehabilitation system facilitates delivery of these interventions to stroke survivors.

2.2.2 Stroke Rehabilitation Branches

The stroke rehabilitation system has three branches: inpatient, center-based community, and home-based community rehabilitation. Inpatient stroke rehabilitation involves a multidisciplinary team that provides interventions for stroke survivors living within a rehabilitation unit (Langhorne et al., 2011). Inpatient stroke rehabilitation is provided to patients with moderate-to-severe disabilities, while community rehabilitation is provided to patients with mild-to-moderate disabilities. Center-based community rehabilitation, also known as outpatient rehabilitation, involves a patient living at home

and going to a rehabilitation unit with multidisciplinary teams or specific practitioner clinics to receive rehabilitative therapies. Home-based community rehabilitation (HBCR) involves rehabilitation therapies that a patient can receive without leaving home, and this is further divided into two categories, Early Support Discharge (ESD) and Telerehabilitation. HBCR, which is primarily administered through in-person visits with a team of therapists, is known as ESD. HBCR, which is primarily managed through technologies that facilitate virtual interactions, is referred to as telerehabilitation.

2.2.3 Accessibility to Stroke Rehabilitation

Lynch et al. (2017) noted that all cohorts of patients with stroke benefit from some form of rehabilitation. Stroke rehabilitation should be accessible to all stroke survivors and there is no firm medical ground for denying stroke patients access to rehabilitation based on age, stroke severity, or stroke type (Stroke Unit Trialist' Collaboration, 2013). In many high-income countries, the availability of inpatient rehabilitation services is considered limited, which leads to prioritizing patient cohorts who are deemed to receive the most benefit from rehabilitation and tend to exclude patient cohorts who are older or have more severe disabilities (Lynch et al., 2017; Putman et al., 2007; R. Teasell, Meyer, McClure, et al., 2009). In Australia, it is estimated that 10% of stroke survivors who are responsive to stroke therapy and would have fully recovered are not provided with rehabilitation (Lynch et al., 2019). Factors such as dementia or living in residential care before stroke are associated with not receiving rehabilitation (Lynch et al., 2019). In lower- and middleincome countries, access to rehabilitation services is even more limited; for example, only 40% of stroke survivors in Rwanda receive any form of rehabilitation (Bernhardt et al., 2020).

Each branch of the stroke rehabilitation system faces unique accessibility challenges. Inpatient rehabilitation is resource intensive. There are a limited number of beds, and it requires 24/7 housing and care for stroke patients. This can lead to admission criteria that are not based on evidence but on what the unit can handle. Literature on the accessibility of community rehabilitation is limited because there are organizational structures that make the system difficult to study as it is a combination of private and public healthcare. Barriers to outpatient rehabilitation have been identified, including depressive symptoms and educational levels (Ladwig & Werheid, 2020).

2.3 Inpatient Stroke Rehabilitation System

The inpatient stroke rehabilitation system offers rehabilitation to moderate to severe stroke survivors. There are four main stages (Figure 2). The first is admission, where a patient is referred to the rehabilitation unit, assessed for eligibility, and admitted to the unit. The second is the initial assessment, in which a patient is assessed for rehabilitation needs, and patient rehabilitation goals are set. In the third stage, the patient begins and continues rehabilitative therapy until the rehabilitation goals are met. In the final stage, a patient who meets the rehabilitation goals is discharged from the unit. The patient will either return to the same level of pre-stroke independence or a lower level of pre-stroke independence and consequently requires a higher level of care. This can be living alone at home, with a caregiver, or in a long-term care facility.



Figure 2: Stages of the patient flow through inpatient stroke rehabilitation

2.3.1 Admission to Inpatient Stroke Rehabilitation

There is no firm medical ground for denying moderate-to-severe stroke patients access to inpatient rehabilitation based on age, stroke severity, or stroke type (Stroke Unit Trialists' Collaboration, 2013). However, the criteria used to select patients for inpatient rehabilitation vary across countries and within rehabilitation units within a country. Lynch et al. (2017) performed a scoping review to assess admissions recommendations and actual admissions for 14 high-income countries worldwide. They found that some guidelines recommended that all moderately and severely impaired stroke patients should have access to inpatient stroke rehabilitation, and others recommended that inpatient rehabilitation should be restricted to patients who are likely to be discharged into the community. Additionally, they found that despite similarities in home-based community rehabilitation services in these countries, the proportion of stroke survivors admitted to inpatient rehabilitation varied greatly.

Willems et al. (2012) conducted a study to determine the number of patients who required inpatient rehabilitation in Ontario, Canada. The patients were screened using the stroke rehabilitation candidacy screening tool, which assesses the patient's rehabilitation candidacy and rehabilitation readiness. Candidacy was assessed using the alphaFIM score, patient's ability to follow commands, patient rehabilitation goals, and verbal consent. A patient was considered suitable if they were medically stable and could sit upright for a minimum of one hour, twice a day. Using these criteria, they determined that approximately 37% of stroke survivors meet the criteria for inpatient rehabilitation; however, 25% of stroke survivors who meet the criteria did not receive inpatient rehabilitation. The primary reason for this was the lack of beds in the unit. Within the province, between 9% and 43% of stroke survivors in the region were admitted to an inpatient rehabilitation program, which indicates a high variance in admission practices.

The criteria officially stated by a rehabilitation unit and the criteria used to predict admission to the rehabilitation unit are often different. It has been shown that age, prestroke function, and functional level post-stroke are the best predictors of who will be accepted into inpatient rehabilitation (Hakkennes et al., 2012, 2013; Hakkennes et al., 2011). There is compelling evidence that the functional status of post-stroke patients is a strong predictor of their outcome after inpatient rehabilitation. However, evidence on age is mixed. Some studies have shown that age is not correlated with functional gains following inpatient rehabilitation, while other studies have shown the opposite effect (Black-Schaffer & Winston, 2004; Denti et al., 2008; Luk et al., 2006). One explanation is that age is not a good predictor of outcomes after stroke rehabilitation; however, older individuals tend to have more comorbidities, which can affect functional outcomes from stroke rehabilitation. It is also important that patients are admitted into rehabilitation relatively early after stroke. Early admission is associated with better functional outcomes at discharge and a shorter length of hospital stays (Paolucci et al., 2000; R. W. Teasell et al., 2008).

2.3.2 Assessment of Rehabilitation Potential and Goals

When a patient enters an inpatient stroke rehabilitation unit, one of the first steps in the rehabilitation journey is the assessment of the rehabilitation potential and setting of rehabilitation goals. The definition of rehabilitation potential varies, and it depends on the clinician. It has been defined as the visible achievement of goals or outcomes over time (Burton et al. 2015). Rehabilitation potential and initial assessments are usually therapistdriven and may involve multidisciplinary teams of therapists, doctors, and nurses. The initial assessment involves obtaining a patient's initial functional status using a measurable scale, such as the FIM or BI. This initial assessment is critical and has a significant impact on the care that is provided.

The practitioner's concept of the patient's rehabilitation potential has a strong impact on the way the therapist manages the patient. The interviews with OTs, PTs, and SLPs in stroke rehabilitation units revealed the concept of rehabilitation potential was based on the responsiveness of the patient to therapy offered rather than predictive variables (Burton et al. 2015). The factors that impacted a practitioner's assessment of rehabilitation potential included the mood and motivation of the patient. Practitioners found it difficult to quantify the impact of these factors because they did not know the patient's personality before stroke. Rehabilitation potential was one of the bases for rationing therapy to patients, advocating for patients who may have been disadvantaged in the system, and managing patient expectations.

Along with rehabilitation potential, setting rehabilitation goals is an important aspect of initial and ongoing patient assessment. Goal setting is also therapist-driven and can involve a multidisciplinary team. There is limited evidence on the effect of goal setting on patient outcomes; however, it is an effective way to measure progress and review rehabilitation plans (Sugavanam et al., 2013). The adoption of patient-centered goal setting is limited; consequently, a patient's involvement in goal setting can range from no involvement to full involvement at all stages (Rosewilliam et al., 2011). Barriers to patient participation in goal setting include a patient's lack of understanding of the consequences of stroke, the process of rehabilitation, limited motivation, depression, and psychological issues (Sugavanam et al., 2013). Practitioner-based barriers include cultural differences between the practitioner and patient, difficulty in scheduling goal-setting meetings, and difficulty in getting patients to express goals. Organizational factors, such as high workload and staffing issues, can also negatively impact goal setting (Sugavanam et al., 2013).

Assessments of rehabilitation potential and goal setting can set the tone for a patient's stay in an inpatient stroke rehabilitation unit; consequently, it is important to do these correctly. A healthcare practitioner's conception of patient rehabilitation potential is affected by both quantifiable measures and therapist judgments; this has the potential to transform the patient's experience in rehabilitation. Patient-centered goal setting is limited in practice, although the framework of patient-centered healthcare is encouraged in many countries, including Canada. The barriers associated with setting patient-centered goals may be reduced by including psychological professionals to address patient mood and motivation, taking steps to improve therapist-patient communication, and improving organizational issues, such as scheduling.

2.3.3 Therapy in Inpatient Rehabilitation

During inpatient rehabilitation, patients can receive a variety of therapies depending on their needs. As previously mentioned, patients tend to receive most of the therapy from three healthcare professionals: PTs, OTs, and SLPs. A United Kingdom study found that 92%, 87%, and 57% of stroke survivors in inpatient stroke care required physiotherapy, occupational therapy, and speech therapy, respectively (Gittins et al., 2020). The exact type of therapy a patient receives is specific to the patient, but general guidelines are used to determine the total hours of therapy. The best practice guidelines in Canada for providing therapy in an inpatient stroke rehabilitation setting recommend that each patient receive a minimum of 3 hours of required therapy per day, 5 days per week (Herbert et al., 2016). Within the United Kingdom, the best practice recommendation is that a patient should receive at least 45 minutes of each required therapy, at least five days per week (Clark et al., 2018).

Gittens et al. (2020) conducted a study assessing approximately 95,000 inpatient stroke rehabilitation patients in England, Wales, and Northern Ireland. They found that patients received between 2 and 14 minutes of each required therapy per day, which is significantly below the United Kingdom best practice guidelines. In Canada, Canadian guidelines have also not been met. In a rehabilitation unit in Ontario, patients received an average of 90 minutes of therapy per day, 5 days per week, well below the recommended 3 hours per day (Foley et al., 2012). A rehabilitation unit in Newfoundland and Labrador also had comparable results, with patients receiving an average of 104 min of therapy per day, 5 days per week (Barrett et al., 2018). There is evidence to support the idea that providing more therapy is better for the functional outcome of the patient after rehabilitation so it is important to investigate why the majority of patients do not receive the recommended amount of therapy (Foley et al., 2012; Hu et al., 2010; Kwakkel et al., 1997; Schneider et al., 2016; H. Wang et al., 2013a). Clark et al. (2018) investigated why patients in the UK do not receive the UK guidelines for inpatient stroke therapy. They found that the factors that influenced therapy provision, in order of influence, were: (i) time spent by a therapist in information exchange, (ii) time spent by a therapist in non-patient contact activities, (iii) staffing levels and deployment, (iv) patient factors, (v) limited knowledge of the evidence for therapy frequency and intensity, (vi) the influence of an external audit, and (vii) limited use of therapy timetabling. It is important to note that many factors related to patients not receiving the recommended amount of therapy were organizational or systematic factors, rather than patient-specific factors. Consequently, the goal of providing recommended therapy is more likely to be achieved when organizational rather than individual changes are made.

When investigating impact of best practice therapy time in Ontario, Meyer and O'Callaghan, et al. (2012) predicted that increasing rehabilitation time to three hours per day, seven days per week would save costs for the healthcare system, improve patient outcomes, and allow more patients to access the inpatient rehabilitation system. Meyer and Britt, et al., (2012) tested the effect of implementing length of stay benchmarks and increasing therapy time in a specific rehabilitation unit in Ontario and found that this intervention resulted in an average length of stay reduction of 5.7 days. Despite the many benefits of meeting and exceeding the guidelines for patient therapy time, implementing these recommendations has been difficult (Bayley et al., 2012).

While Meyer and colleagues' work provides some guidance on how these changes could be implemented to inpatient stroke rehabilitation systems outside Ontario, their template is specific to Ontario. For example, staffing levels will have a direct impact on the realization of best practice recommendations for rehabilitation time; however, to date, limited research has been conducted to determine the appropriate staffing level for therapists. Meyer et al. (2012) assumed that therapists would spend 6 hours of their 7.5 hour-day providing therapy, yet studies have shown that therapists only spend 33-66% of their time delivering therapy, a result which may have led Meyer et al. (2012) to underestimate the number of therapists required (Putman et al., 2007).

Providing therapeutic interventions is the purpose of the inpatient rehabilitation system; however, the amount of therapy provided to patients is below the standard set in Canada. The benefit of providing Canadian standard therapy time is that it improves individual patient outcomes and leads to better rehabilitation units and healthcare systems. However, little research has been conducted on how to achieve the Canadian standard of rehabilitation time in clinical practice. Questions about how to schedule rehabilitation, therapist-to-patient ratio, and the optimal time use of a therapist are unanswered in the literature, leaving healthcare administrators with little guidance on how to implement the best practice guidelines.

2.3.4 Discharged from the Rehabilitation Unit

Patients are typically discharged from a rehabilitation unit after they have completed their rehabilitation goals. Approximately 75% of patients are discharged to the community, and 25% are discharged to an institutional setting (Ouellette et al., 2015; Wong et al., 2016). The factors that predict a patient's discharge destination are age, functional

status at admission, availability of a caregiver, and living arrangements before stroke (Chevalley et al., 2021; Pereira et al., 2014; Tanwir et al., 2014). The discharge of a patient can be either prompt or delayed depending on the elapsed time between the target and actual discharge date.

A patient is typically categorized as ready to leave the rehabilitation unit when they have successfully fulfilled their rehabilitation goals, although they can be discharged even if they cannot complete their rehabilitation goals. Discharge delays can be related to a variety of factors. Patients may have an extended stay in the rehabilitation unit as they await admission to a long-term care home or modifications to their home, such as stairs or bed lifts (Lai et al., 2017; Tan et al., 2010). Other social factors include living alone, the absence of a caregiver at the time of stroke, and the need to get a caregiver (Lai et al., 2017). In Singapore, it is estimated that 35.6% of stroke patients have a delay in discharge from inpatient rehabilitation, and approximately 35% of Canadian stroke survivors will exceed their target length of stay (Lai et al., 2017; Tan et al., 2017)

Delays in discharging patients can cause a backup in the inpatient rehabilitation unit as the number of beds is limited. As previously mentioned, one of the reasons for patients not being admitted into rehabilitation is a lack of bed availability, and this is exacerbated when patients who are ready to be discharged take up rehabilitation beds. There is limited literature on the impact of discharge delay, and studies should be conducted to determine the impact on the stroke rehabilitation system.

2.4 Operations Research in Stroke Rehabilitation

Operations research (OR) is a field of study that focuses on applying advanced analytical methods to optimize an objective or outcome based on specific decisions (Manson, 2006). OR was first introduced in a military setting and has been used to solve many healthcare problems since 1952 (Flagle 2002). Within healthcare, OR is typically used to optimize organizational productivity, including scheduling, resource planning, clinical and administrative modeling, treatment evaluations and layout design (Fakhimi & Probert, 2013). OR techniques include linear programming, discrete event simulations, mathematical modeling, Markov models, and forecasting. Although OR techniques have been used to optimize treatment efficiency in the acute aspect of stroke care to maximize patient outcomes, their use in stroke rehabilitation is significantly less common in the literature (Chemweno et al., 2014; Churilov et al., 2013).

Linear programming involves the development and optimization of a mathematical model to determine the best solution within a set of constraints. This methodology is ideal when there is a clear objective that depends on specific decision variables and various constraints on the variables. A linear program can be used to find an optimal solution. A limitation of this methodology is that it does not include stochasticity within the model and requires linear relationships between the objective and decision variables.

2.4.1 Linear Programming Models

Linear programming is a mathematical model that either minimizes or maximizes a linear function, subject to a set of constraints. The three components of linear programming are the objective function, decision variables, and a set of constraints. The objective function is a linear equation representing the problem to be solved. The goal is to either minimize or maximize the linear equation. The decision variables are a set of variables involved in the linear expressions of the objective function and constraints. The constraints are a set of linear equations that the decision variables must satisfy to obtain a feasible optimal solution. A diagram of linear programming models is shown in Figure 3. There are several types of linear program subtypes and extensions, such as integer linear programming, which constrains decision variables to be integers, and goal programming, which contains multiple objective functions, but the basic components of linear programs are the same.



Figure 3. Reprint of the linear programming model components from Moreira (2003)

Linear programming models are rarely found in inpatient stroke rehabilitation literature. A few articles have used linear programming for general inpatient rehabilitation and outpatient clinics. Braaksma et al., (2014) used linear programming to schedule appointments for a multiple discipline team in a rehabilitation unit. Meyer et al., (1992) used linear programming to determine the optimal case mix for inpatient cardiac rehabilitation. Another study used the linear programming technique of data envelopment analysis to evaluate the efficiency of inpatient rehabilitation facilities in the United States (Harrison & Kirkpatrick, 2009). For outpatient clinics, linear programming, specifically goal programming has been used to determine optimal scheduling for multiple disciplinary teams and nurses (Güler, 2013; S. P. Wang et al., 2014).

One of the benefits of linear programming is that it inherently accounts for the resource limitations in the solution. The relationships between these constraints and decision variables allow for optimal solutions that balance competing interests, such as cost reduction and effective patient care. Many issues in the inpatient rehabilitation system can be reduced to a resource allocation problem such as determining the optimal case mix of patients admitted, staffing to patient ratios, and the feasibility of providing best-practice therapy time.

2.5 Rationale

The inpatient rehabilitation system has complex issues that impact the ability of this system to deliver excellent care to the stroke survivor population. Issues with admission criteria, timely admission and discharge, and the amount of therapy provided to patients have negative impacts on patient outcomes. The solution to these issues is not always evident as many factors are involved with making widespread changes to the way that healthcare services are provided to patients. Policymakers and healthcare administrators are required to balance cost, patient outcome, and resource constraints when making decisions to address these issues. Qualitative research can help inform these
decisions, but this type of research typically focuses on a specific issue within the system. The research objectives of these studies are usually to isolate a specific component of a system to determine how making changes in that specific component will impact the system rather than consider the interactions between all elements of a system. Furthermore, many studies in this area do not use methodologies that can study these interactions.

OR methodologies are designed specifically to consider a variety of factors and interactions, and consequently, it is an ideal research methodology to use when looking at decision-making with complex issues. Therefore, the purpose of this work is to apply operations research methodologies, specifically linear programming to the inpatient rehabilitation system to address some of the complex issues within it.

This study focuses on the trade-off between providing best practice recommendations for therapy time and the cost of providing this therapy to inpatient stroke patients. While providing a minimum of 15 hours of therapy per week is the best practice standard in Canada, very few patients receive the recommended amount of therapy. Last et al. (2022), when discussing facilitators and barriers to participation in therapy, identified adequate staffing as a driver for achieving recommended daily therapy times. However, budget constraints can cause health administrators to be cautious about adding staff, especially if it is considered to be infeasible (M. Meyer, personal communication, March 2, 2021). Therefore, the purpose of this study is to develop a linear programming model which determines the trade-off required to meet Canadian guidelines for therapy time in inpatient stroke rehabilitation.

Chapter 3: Methods

3.1 Model Framework and Inputs

The model that is described in this section is for a stroke patient with moderate impairments, which is determined by the Rehabilitation Patient Group algorithm for classification of stroke patients, which considers FIM score and age (Sutherland & Walker, 2008). Therapy time was comprised of the three core therapies of physiotherapy, occupational therapy, and speech language therapy. All patients were assumed to receive physiotherapy and occupational therapy, while half of the patients were assumed to receive speech language therapy (Meyer et al., 2012).

A linear equation which represents the relationship between therapy amount and total length of stay is shown in Equation 1. This equation represents that a stroke patient with moderate impairment will spend 35.037 days in the inpatient rehabilitation unit if no therapy is received, and the length of stay is reduced by 0.1473 days for every hour of therapy received. This relationship represents the average reduction in length of stay for each hour of therapy received. This equation was formulated based on the current Canadian practices and the estimated impact of changes to these practices. The average Canadian inpatient stroke rehabilitation unit provides 10 hours of therapy per week and moderate patients stay in the unit for 30 days. When estimating the impact of increasing therapy intensity, Meyer et al. (2012) estimated that an increase to 3 hours of therapy, 7 days per week would result in a 5-day length of stay reduction for moderate stroke patients. This was further validated as Meyer et al., (2012) looked at the impact of benchmarking and increasing therapy time at a rehabilitation unit in Ontario. They found patients in the intervention cohort had an average length 5.7 shorter than the baseline cohort.

y [length of stay] = -0.1473x[total therapy hours] + (1)35.037

Table 4 summarizes the cost inputs for each therapist per hour and the patient length of stay. This was derived from Meyer et al. (2012).

Parameter	Symbol	Value
Host of hiring PT per hour	C1	\$50
Cost of hiring OT per hour	C_2	\$50
Cost of hiring SLP per hour	C_3	\$52
Cost of LOS per day per patient	C_4	\$600
1 71 1		

Table 4: Cost estimates for linear programming model

3.1.2 Linear Programming Model

The full linear programming model is shown in Table 5. The objective function is to minimize the cost of providing care to the patient (equation (2). The decision variables are the hours of physiotherapy (h_{PT}), occupational therapy (h_{OT}), and speech-language pathology (h_{SLP}) provided across a patient's entire rehabilitation stay (the total length of stay (LOS)) per patient. The hours of therapy are measured in hours and the LOS is in days. To ensure that the amount of therapy provided is not worse than the current situation and reasonable from a patient stamina perspective, a constraint is included to ensure that the total therapy time (h_{total}) is greater than 10 hours and does not exceed 21 hours in a 7 day period (equation (3) and (4). The total amount of therapy is equal to the sum of the hours provided by the 3 core therapy disciplines (equation (5). To model the ratio of therapy provided by each of the core therapy disciplines, two constraints are added to ensure a patient would receive equal amounts of physiotherapy and occupational therapy; and the

time spent with a speech-language pathologist is half that of a physiotherapist (equation (6) and (7). The relationship between the length of stay and total therapy hours, which was determined using a linear regression equation, is added as a constraint (equation (8). The final constraint ensures that the hours of therapy provided by each therapist and the total days the patient spent in therapy were non-negative (equation (9). This model was solved using Excel Solver (Microsoft, Version 2208, Redmond, WA).

Table 5: Linear programming model

$Minimize \ cost = \ c_1h_{PT} + c_2h_{OT} + c_3h_{SLP} + c_4LOS$	(2)
Subject to constraints:	
$h_{total} \ge \frac{10}{7} * LOS$	(3)
$h_{total} \le \frac{21}{7} * LOS$	(4)
$\mathbf{h}_{total} = \mathbf{h}_{PT} + \mathbf{h}_{OT} + \mathbf{h}_{SLP}$	(5)
$\mathbf{h}_{PT} = \mathbf{h}_{OT}$	(6)
$h_{PT} = 2h_{SLP}$	(7)
$LOS = -0.1473h_{total} + 35.037$	(8)
$h_{total,} h_{PT}, h_{OT}, h_{SLP}, LOS \ge 0$	(9)

3.1.3 Sensitivity Analysis

Sensitivity analysis was conducted to determine the robustness of the model and the optimal solution. It is focused on the relationship between the length of stay and the total therapy received (equation 8), and the relative cost of therapy and length of stay. The relationship between LOS and therapy time was analyzed because it was inferred based on previous work and has not been investigated in the literature. The cost ratios were investigated as they may vary between regions and between patients. To make the results more applicable, a percentage of cost was used instead of absolute cost.

Chapter 4: Results

4.1 Main Findings

For a stroke patient with moderate impairments, the linear optimization model described in Chapter 3 gives an optimal solution of 29.2 hours, 29.2 hours and 14.6 hours of PT, OT and SLP respectively during the patient's LOS. The optimal solution results in a 24.3-day LOS. The hours of therapy are distributed across the 24.3-day LOS, which is equal to 1.2 hours, 1.2 hours and 0.6 hours of physiotherapy, occupational therapy, and speech language therapy respectively per day. It is equivalent to a total of 3 hours of therapy per day and meets the Canadian best practice guidelines. The minimized cost obtained from the objective function of the model is \$18,253.55 per patient.

4.2 Sensitivity Analysis

4.2.1 Sensitivity Test 1: Therapy Time and Length of Stay Equation

To test the sensitivity of the length of stay and the therapy hour variables, the slope (m) of the linear equation for LOS was changed and the effect on the optimal solution was assessed (equation 8). The changes to the value of the slope in equation 8, which represents the length of stay and therapy time constraint. The values for the slope of equation 8 were changed from the original -0.1473 in 10% increments, ranging from a -50% change to a 50% change in the absolute value of the slope (equations 11- 20). A graphical representation is shown in Figure 4.

This demonstrates how the optimal solution changes with overall increases or decreases in strength of the relationship between therapy time and LOS. The summary of



sensitivity test 1 is shown in Table 6 and Table 7. No other aspects of the original model were modified.

Figure 4: Graphical representation of sensitivity test 1 and the optimal solution (OS) associated with each 10% increment. The optimal value for each scenario is shown with dot. The solid line represents baseline scenario, and the dotted lines represent each sensitivity scenario.

The results of *sensitivity test 1* showed that the optimal solution for total therapy time and length of stay changed, however, the total hours of therapy per day remained 3 hours per day for all assessed changes except the 50% decrease in absolute slope (See Figure 6 and Figure 5) . In the case of the 50% decrease in slope, the optimal solution was 14.7 hours of OT and PT each and 7.4 hours of SLP, leading to a 32.3-day LOS. This resulted in 1.14 hours of therapy per day.

Change	Equation Modification		New Optimal Solution	Daily therapy hours
10%	$LOS = -0.1326h_{total}$	(10)	$h_{PT} = 30.0 \ hrs$	3.0 hrs
	+ 35.037		$h_{OT} = 30.0 \ hrs$	
			$h_{SLP} = 15.0 \ hrs$	
			$LOS = 25.1 \ days$	
			Total Cost	
			= \$18,830.65	
20%	$LOS = -0.1178h_{total}$	(11)	$h_{PT} = 31.1 \ hrs$	3.0 hrs
	+ 35.037		$h_{OT} = 31.1 \ hrs$	
			$h_{SLP} = 15.5 \ hrs$	
			LOS = 25.8 days	
			Total Cost	
			= \$19,445.44	
30%	$LOS = -0.103h_{total}$	(12)	$h_{PT} = 32.1 \ hrs$	3.0 hrs
	+ 35.037		$h_{OT} = 32.1 \ hrs$	
			$h_{SLP} = 16.1 \ hrs$	
			LOS = 26.8 days	
			Total Cost	
			= \$20,101.73	
40%	$LOS = -0.088h_{total}$	(13)	$h_{PT} = 33.2 \ hrs$	3.0 hrs
	+ 35.037		$h_{OT} = 33.2 \ hrs$	
			$h_{SLP} = 16.6 \ hrs$	
			$LOS = 27.7 \ days$	
			Total Cost	
			= \$20,803.86	
50%	$LOS = -0.073h_{total}$	(14)	$h_{PT} = 14.7 \; hrs$	1.14 hrs
	+ 35.037		$h_{OT} = 14.7 \ hrs$	

Table 6: Sensitivity Analysis for Decrease in m for linear equation for therapy time and length of stay.

Change	Equation Modification	I New Optimal Solution th h	Daily erapy iours
		$h_{SLP} = 7.4 \ hrs$	
		$LOS = 32.3 \ days$	
		Total Cost	
		= \$21,251.56	

Change	Modified Equation		New Optimal Solution	Daily therapy hours
↑ 10%	$LOS = -0.162h_{total} + 35.037$	(1	$h_{PT} = 28.3 \ hrs$	3.0 hrs
		5)	$h_{OT} = 28.3 \ hrs$	
			$h_{SLP} = 14.1 \ hrs$	
			LOS = 23.8 days	
			<i>Total Cost</i> = \$17,710.77	
↑ 20%	$LOS = -0.177h_{total} + 35.037$	(1	$h_{PT} = 27.5 \ hrs$	3.0 hrs
		6)	$h_{OT} = 27.5 \ hrs$	
			$h_{SLP} = 13.7$	
			$LOS = 22.9 \ days$	
			<i>Total Cost</i> = \$17,199.33	
↑ 30%	$LOS = -0.191h_{total} + 35.037$	(1	$h_{PT} = 26.7 \ hrs$	3.0 hrs
		7)	$h_{OT} = 26.7 hrs$	
			$h_{SLP} = 13.4 \ hrs$	
			$LOS = 22.2 \ days$	
			<i>Total Cost</i> = \$16,716.61	
↑ 40%	$LOS = -0.206h_{total} + 35.037$	(1	$h_{PT} = 26.0 \ hrs$	3.0 hrs
		8)	$h_{OT} = 26.0 \ hrs$	
			$h_{SLP} = 13.0 \ hrs$	
			$LOS = 21.6 \ days$	
			<i>Total Cost</i> = \$16,260.24	
↑ 50%	$LOS = -0.221h_{total} + 35.037$	(1	$h_{PT} = 25.3 \ hrs$	3.0 hrs
		9)	$h_{OT} = 25.3 \ hrs$	
			$h_{SLP} = 12.6 \ hrs$	
			$LOS = 21.1 \ days$	
			<i>Total Cost</i> = \$15,828.12	

Table 7: Sensitivity Analysis for increase in absolute m for the linear relationship between therapy time and length of stay



Figure 6 - Sensitivity Test 1: Optimal solution for total hours of therapy and total length of stay



Figure 5 Sensitivity Test 1 - Total Cost of Therapy and LOS in the Optimal solution

4.2.2 Sensitivity Analysis 2: Percentage of Cost of Therapy and LOS

In sensitivity test 2, we investigated how changes in the percentage of cost of therapy provision to cost of length of stay would impact the optimal solution. In the original objective function (equation 2), the cost of 1 LOS day is \$600 and the total cost of 1 hour of therapy from all rehabilitation disciplines is \$152. The percentage of the cost of 1 day LOS to the cost of daily therapy, given by ($\frac{Cost of 1 LOS day}{Cost of 3 hours of therapy} \times 100$), is approximately 400%. The percentage of cost was examined in 50 % increments, from a 200% to 600% percentage of 1 day LOS cost to therapy time cost. To implement this in the objective function, the parameter C4, which represents the cost of 1 LOS day, was manipulated while all other parameters remained the same (equation 2). No other components of the original model were modified. The result of the analysis is shown in Table 8.

Percentage	LOS Parameter	New Optimal Solution	Daily Therapy Time
200%	\$305	$h_{PT} = 13.7 \ hrs$	1.14 hrs
		$h_{OT} = 13.7 \ hrs$	
		$h_{SLP} = 6.85 \ hrs$	
		$LOS = 30.0 \ days$	
		<i>Total Cost</i> = \$10,873.88	
250%	\$380	$h_{PT} = 29.2 \ hrs$	3 hrs
		$h_{OT} = 29.2 \ hrs$	
		$h_{SLP} = 14.6 \ hrs$	
		$LOS = 24.3 \ days$	
		<i>Total Cost</i> = \$12,907.73	

Table 8: Sensitivity Analysis for Changes in the percentage of cost between cost of therapy provision and cost of length of stay

Percentage	LOS Parameter	New Optimal Solution	Daily Therapy Time
300%	\$456	$h_{PT} = 29.2 \ hrs$	3 hrs
		$h_{OT} = 29.2 \ hrs$	
		$h_{SLP} = 14.6 \ hrs$	
		$LOS = 24.3 \ days$	
		<i>Total Cost</i> = \$14,754.47	
350%	\$532	$h_{PT} = 29.2 \ hrs$	3 hrs
		$h_{OT} = 29.2 \ hrs$	
		$h_{SLP} = 14.6 \ hrs$	
		$LOS = 24.3 \ days$	
		<i>Total Cost</i> = \$16,601.21	
Original	\$600	$h_{PT} = 29.2 \ hrs$	3 hrs
(400%)		$h_{OT} = 29.2 \ hrs$	
		$h_{SLP} = 14.6 \ hrs$	
		$LOS = 24.3 \ days$	
		<i>Total Cost</i> = \$18,253.55	
450%	\$684	$h_{PT} = 29.2 \ hrs$	3 hrs
		$h_{OT} = 29.2 \ hrs$	
		$h_{SLP} = 14.6 \ hrs$	
		$LOS = 24.3 \ days$	
		<i>Total Cost</i> = \$20,294.68	
500%	\$760	$h_{PT} = 29.2 \ hrs$	3 hrs
		$h_{0T} = 29.2 \ hrs$	
		$h_{SLP} = 14.6 \ hrs$	
		LOS = 24.3 days	
		Total Cost = \$22,141.42	

Percentage	LOS	New Optimal Solution	Daily Therapy Time
	Parameter		
550%	\$836	$h_{PT} = 29.2 \ hrs$	3 hrs
		$h_{OT} = 29.2 \ hrs$	
		$h_{SLP} = 14.6 \ hrs$	
		$LOS = 24.3 \ days$	
		<i>Total Cost</i> = \$23,988.16	
600%	\$912	$h_{PT} = 29.2 \ hrs$	3 hrs
		$h_{OT} = 29.2 \ hrs$	
		$h_{SLP} = 14.6 \ hrs$	
		$LOS = 24.3 \ days$	
		<i>Total Cost</i> = \$25,834.90	

The results of the sensitivity analysis test 2 show that the optimal solution remains the same with for all increments except for the 200% cost percentage (See Figure 7 and Figure 8). In all other percentage of cost tested, the optimal solution was to provide the same hours of total therapy over the same length as the original optimal solution. When the percentage of cost was 200% the optimal solution was to provide 34.25 total hours of therapy across a 30-day LOS, which resulted in 1.14 hours of therapy per day.



Figure 7 - Sensitivity Test 2 - Total hours of therapy and cost associated with the optimal solution for each iteration



Figure 8 - Sensitivity Analysis 2: Total hours of therapy and cost associated with the optimal solution for each iteration.

Chapter 5 Discussion

This LP model shows that a shift towards providing more therapy may reduce costs, a phenomenon that is primarily driven by a reduction in length of stay for patients. The optimal solution resulted in a total of 3 hours of therapy per day with 1.2 hours for OT and PT each and 0.6 hours for SLP, meeting the best practice recommendation for therapy. This resulted in a LOS of 24.3 days and a total cost of \$18,253.55 CAD per patient. Based on this model, the cost associated with current Canadian average hours of therapy and length of stay is \$19,723.68. Therefore, the optimal solution from the LP model provides \$1,479.13 cost savings per patient. The comparison of the LP optimal results and the current Canadian practice is shown in Table 9. These results show that when looking at the trade-off between providing therapy and cost, there actually is no trade-off required as providing additional therapy results in cost savings, allowing for a solution that at best achieve best practice guidelines for therapy and savings in cost and at worse, is cost-neutral. *Table 9. Linear Programming Optimal Solution versus Current Canadian Average*

	Canadian Average	Model Solution
Hours of Therapy per	8 hours	21 hours
Week		
Length of Stay	30 days	24.3 days
Length of Stay Cost	\$18,000	\$14,579.51
Cost of hiring therapist	\$1,723.68	\$3,674.04
over LOS duration		
Total Cost	\$19,723.68	\$18,253.55

This is further explored in the sensitivity analysis, which reveals two additional aspects of the LP model and the optimal solution. The first finding is that when all other variables are unchanged the LP model solution remains optimal up to a 40% decrease in the absolute slope of the therapy time to length of stay linear relationship. This means that

even if the LP model overestimated the strength of the relationship between therapy time and length of stay, the optimal solution is still valid even with a 40% decrease in the slope. When looking at the implications of this result for stroke rehabilitation, the primary message is that providing additional therapy, even if not as effective as estimated by results from Meyer et al, (2012) can still be beneficial from a cost perspective. This result holds even if the therapy provided is not consistently efficient and effective at improving functional gains and subsequently reducing LOS.

The second finding is that the solution is optimal until the cost of length of stay is twice as much as the cost of providing 3 hours of therapy. In practical terms, it helps to account for a situation with variability in the cost of therapy provision and housing patients in a LOS unit. The cost benefits of providing therapy increase when the cost of housing patients is high and decrease when the cost of housing patients is low. This can have several implications for the application of these results. At the level of the patient, certain patients may cost more to house within the unit due to variables such as complex dietary needs and transportation to frequent appointments outside of the unit. Organizational factors may also impact the cost ratio of therapy provision and housing such as the pay scale for therapists and therapist ratios.

In the situation where providing additional therapy would not be more cost effective and gives information that decision makers can use to ensure that providing additional therapy is cost effective. An example of this would be a situation where the cost of housing patients in an inpatient rehabilitation setting is relatively inexpensive. From a purely cost-saving perspective, it would be more beneficial to provide patients with therapy using a less expensive source such as utilizing therapy assistants to provide most of the additional rehabilitation.

When assessing the behavior of the model itself, the results and sensitivity analysis show that the constraint of minimum and maximum therapy time drive the results as the results in all iteration tended to extreme. For the iterations in which the optimal solution was the minimum amount of therapy, a further decrease in the minimum therapy would likely result in improvement in cost saving and increased LOS. However, the ethics of providing patients with sub-optimal care for the sake of saving costs would come into question. In the iterations where the optimal solution was the maximum amount of therapy, a further increase in the maximum therapy constraint would likely result in further cost saving and a decrease in LOS. However, the realism of the model would decrease for at least two reasons. First, fatigue is one of the most common post-stoke impairments and patients likely would not be able to tolerate significantly more hours of therapy per day. Second, even if patients could tolerate many hours of therapy, there would likely be diminishing returns on the effectiveness of therapy.

Overall, the results from this study indicate that the best practice amount of therapy provides rehabilitation units with a net cost saving compared to the current Canadian average of therapy hours. Furthermore, previous research showed that more daily therapy, specifically daily therapy of more than 3 hours, is associated with greater functional independence outcomes for patients (Wang et al., 2013b). Therefore, providing additional therapy may decrease the cost while the patient is in the inpatient stroke rehabilitation unit and result in increased functional independence. This can have significant personal, societal, and economic implications even after a patient has left inpatient rehabilitation as improved recovery may lead to reduced caregiving requirements and caregiver burden.

5.1 Comparison to Previous Work

It is difficult to directly compare this modeling study with previous work because this is a relatively understudied aspect of stroke rehabilitation. The few studies on inpatient rehabilitation are in a different healthcare context.

A study conducted in Japan considered direct medical costs before and after the adoption of a healthcare policy that incentivized higher-intensity stroke rehabilitation. In this healthcare context, there is a unique system of convalescent rehabilitation units, which provide intensive core therapies to patients' post-stroke. This unit is designed for patients who require assistance for ADLs after their acute hospital stay and the maximum length of stay in this unit is 180 days. In April 2011, a new policy was introduced that incentive increased rehabilitation time and Nagayama et al., (2021) conducted a retrospective study to investigate the effect of the incentive high intensity rehabilitation on medical costs. Note that the use of the term 'intensity' in this study refers to the therapy time and not effortfulness of therapy.

The low intensity and high intensity groups in Nagayama et al. (2021) had an average therapy time of 89.7 mins and 135.3 minutes of therapy 7 days per week, respectively. The length of stay for the higher intensity group was higher, but non-significant compared to the low intensity group with LOS of 96.3 days and 93.5 days, respectively. Results indicated that the high intensity rehabilitation group was associated with higher rehabilitation medical costs but lower total medical costs one year after discharge. When comparing the results of these studies with the current work, there is a

conflict in the results given that the more therapy time resulted in increased medical rehabilitation costs. To make an accurate comparison, it is important to note how the model's conceptual framework differs from the studies.

The LP model was developed with an assumption that functional gains would be the target criteria for discharge and these targets would apply regardless of the therapy time. To consider the context of functional gains we can look at another study conducted in Japan in an overlapping time to Nagayama et al., (2021). In the study by (Kamo et al., 2019), high intensity rehabilitation was defined as ≥ 15 hours of therapy per week and low intensity being defined as less than 15 hours per week. Kamo et al. (2019) found that patients who undergo higher intensity rehabilitation have better motor and cognitive gains as assessed by the FIM compared to the lower intensity group, and a greater percentage of these patients were discharged home (Kamo et al., 2019). And the high intensity group achieved higher functional gains compared to the low therapy group in the same length of time.

In the context of this model where functional gains are the basis for discharge, patients in a Japanese healthcare context stayed past their functional gain discharge date, meaning that the cost numbers are not an accurate picture the LP model in this study. An accurate comparison would be studies that focus on when functional milestone or gains were achieved. This would provide a better comparison of when a patient would theoretically be discharged vs. when they are discharged. Additionally, within the other studies, the reason for discharge is not stated, so it is possible that LOS numbers are not an accurate representation of when level of functional gains were achieved, but other factors such as discharge delay.

5.2 Implications for Stroke Rehabilitation

The optimal result suggested that providing the best practice recommendations for therapy hours is cost effective, and consequently from a monetary lens, it should be feasible to implement this in the current Canadian healthcare system. However, practical implementation requires more than simply having the money to pay for more therapy as other resources such as human and hospital space facilities are also required to increase the therapy time. There are a variety of ways to increase the therapy time, including increasing the amount of therapy provided by the primary rehabilitation therapist and providing therapy to multiple patients at a time. Each of these strategies will have different benefits and barriers to implementation in stroke rehabilitation units. Note that due to personal experience and expertise, the majority of the discussed implications will come from a physiotherapy perspective.

5.2.1 Increasing Therapy Time with the Primary Rehabilitation Team

The most direct way to increase therapy is to increase the time in therapy provided by OTs, PTs and SLPs. One aspect that must be considered is the ratio of therapist to patients required to achieve the best practice guidelines. There is little research that looks directly at appropriate therapist to patient ratios for inpatient rehabilitation. Communications with subject matter experts indicates that a 1:6 ratio of therapist to patients is a common benchmark for physiotherapy staffing ratios (personal communication, A. MacDonald, December 9, 2020). The work of M. Meyer et al., (2012) supports this, where it is assumed that therapist would spend 6 hours of their 7.5 hour-day providing therapy and consequently be able to see 6 patients for 1 hour per day. This assumes an 80% therapy time efficiency for therapist. However, studies looking at the time allocation of therapist suggest that a different ratio may be more appropriate.

A study by Putman et al. (2006) investigated the time allocation of OTs and PTs on stroke rehabilitation units in 4 European Countries. The therapist self-reported their activities at 15 minutes intervals during the day. The activities were broadly divided into therapeutic activities and non-therapeutic activities. Therapeutic activities included tasks such as mobility training, ADL training, neuropsychological training, and other trainings. Non-therapeutic activities included patient and unit-related co-ordination and other tasks such as breaks or giving advice to external parties. Patient related coordination included patient administration, discussions about patients, ward rounds and team conference. Unit related coordination included unit administration, training, supervision and discussions about the team and unit. The results showed that PTs and OTs only spend 33-66% of their time in inpatient rehabilitation delivering therapy with 25-33% of their time being spent on patient coordination tasks. Although this study was not done in a Canadian healthcare context, it does provide some insight about how OTs and PTs allocate their time in an inpatient stroke rehabilitation unit.

Given that therapists are often required to do other tasks apart from providing therapy directly to patients, it is important that time spent in other tasks is appropriately accounted for to determine the number of therapists required to meet the recommended hours of therapy. Simply advising therapists to spend more time on therapy may not be feasible since there are specific tasks that therapist need to engage in before and after providing therapy, including liaising with the team about the status of the patient, documentation after a therapy is provided and order equipment. Changing this time ratio may be difficult to implement as it would involve not only the therapist, but also the other patient coordination stakeholders such as other healthcare staff and family.

The model developed in this work accounted only for the cost of increasing the number of therapists. It did not consider the ways that therapists currently spend their time. With this model, it was demonstrated that increasing the hours of therapy is cost-effective. However, the implementation may not be feasible because physiotherapy, occupational therapy and speech language pathology are all regulated professions in high demand. The number of therapists in the workforce is controlled through admission and licensing. Regions with stroke units may not have the therapists to hire, even if the option is cost effective.

Therapy assistants can also be used to increase the total time that patients receive therapy. Physiotherapy Assistant, Occupational Assistant and Communication disorder therapist can increase the total time patients receive therapy.

5.2.2 Increasing the Amount of Therapy with Group Sessions

Circuit classes and group sessions are another way that therapy time can be increased without changing the number of staffing hours. When group therapy is used to increase therapy amount, it is important to consider the type of intervention that is to be provided because not all interventions are suitable to a group setting.

A randomized control trial study by Renner et al., (2016) compared group and individual task training to improve walking. The study included patients diagnosed with first stroke who could walk and stand independently, and those that could walk with assistance. For the group therapy intervention, the patients were paired to perform tasks and to observe the other perform the tasks. The time spent in the group and individual sessions were equal and the characteristics between groups were similar apart from a lower Motricity Index score in the individual training group. After 6 weeks, the patients from both groups had similar outcomes including but not limited to the stroke impact scale mobility domain, functional ambulation and the 6-minute walk test. All other mobility related outcomes were statistically the same except the modified stairs test, providing evidence that group therapy is as effective as individual training to improve mobility in the appropriate stroke survivors.

However, the relationship between increased therapy time in circuit training and reduction in length of stay is not straightforward in the literature. McDonell et al., (2023) compared circuit class training to individual therapy in a retrospective observational study. Participants in the individual therapy completed 30 minutes sessions 5 times a week with the physiotherapist plus additional therapy with the physiotherapy assistant for those with an appropriate level of function. Those in the circuit group received 60 minutes of group therapy 5 times per week. The group therapy involved a 1:3 therapist to patient ratio and this group also received physiotherapy assistant led therapy sessions. The results showed that those in the circuit therapy group received on average 8 minutes more of physiotherapy per day compared to the individual therapy group. Patients in the group therapy also had a higher, but not statistically significant increase in their FIM score. The two groups also had similar length of stays when the covariant of stroke onset and admission to rehabilitation was adjusted for during sensitivity analysis.

The results from this study demonstrate that group therapy classes may be as effective as individual classes for improving functional outcomes post-stroke. However, it is important to consider how group therapy is offered from a resource perspective. If offering group therapy involves additional staffing, then it may be difficult to get buy-in from a cost-perspective even if the group therapy achieves similar functional gains to individual therapy.

5.3 Implications for Policy and Decision Making

Given the complexity of implementing the best practice guidelines for stroke rehabilitation therapy, the responsibility of increasing therapy time must be shifted from the therapist to the healthcare organizations. Therapists work within the constraints of the organization. Therefore, it is the responsibility of organizational managers to provide adequate resources that improve the system so that the best practice guidelines can be achieved.

There are limited peer reviewed journal articles on the changes that rehabilitation units have made to increase therapy time. Shafei et al., (2022) conducted a scoping review that considered quality improvement in stroke rehabilitation. The authors noted that the majority of studies on the subject were only available as conference abstracts and concluded that "QI [quality improvement] studies published as full papers are the tip of the iceberg" (Shafei et al., 2022, pp. 2928–2929). None of the full-length articles in the scoping review looked at quality improvement regarding improving therapy time. However, a few conference abstracts focused on methods to increase therapy time in individual rehabilitation units in Canada.

For example, Hahn (2019) reported on organizational changes that were implemented to increase therapy time in Vancouver, Canada. The changes included reducing the number of meetings required by therapist, optimizing multi-disciplinary rounds, and rescheduling operations and rehabilitations. Before the changes, stroke patients received between 20-60 minutes of therapy per day and after the intervention, between 60-320 minutes of therapy per day. It is also important to note that prior to this intervention, therapists spent 70 minutes of each day providing direct therapy and after the changes they spent 200 minutes per day providing direct therapy. They reported that these changes did not increase resource costs to the healthcare system. Although this abstract does not provide enough detail to inform implementation in other settings, it does provide some evidence that therapy time can be improved without increasing costs.

Although there is limited evidence that directly applies to increasing therapy time, studies in other areas of organization change in stroke rehabilitation have noted some facilitators to effective organizational change. Janzen et al. (2016) who focused on building knowledge to action programs in stroke rehabilitation, noted that guidelines need to be clear, comprehensive, and concise, and that vague recommendations should be avoided because they are difficult to apply and measure, and can contribute to lower success and compliance rates. It is also important that implementation is tailored to the setting in terms of specific interventions and measures of intervention success. Implementation can also be negatively impacted by lack of monitoring by staff and staff turnover (Vratsistas-Curto et al., 2017).

When the current study is viewed in the context of organizational change in stroke rehabilitation, it is important that organizations consider all the factors which may impact their ability to achieve the best practice recommendations for therapy time. The time used by therapist must be quantified to tease out areas for improved efficiency. It is only after this that the human resource need can be understood. If additional human resources are still required to meet best practice recommendations, then individual organizations can determine how cost can be optimized within their organization. Benchmarking the amount of therapy, length of stay and target functional level along with documentation of deviations from targets are also important to ensure that the impact of change is monitored.

5.4 Limitations

Modeling studies have inherent limitations. Models cannot account for all the variables that would impact the system. Linear programming models are limited because it reduces a complex system with complex relationships into a series of linear mathematical relationships. It is difficult to determine how closely the model reflects the system it represents without a significant amount of data. Sensitivity analysis helps to tease out the sensitivity of the results to changes, but it is difficult to investigate all scenarios. Additionally, the current LP model does not account for uncertainty or stochasticity.

One of the variables that is not accounted for in this model is the impact of weekend therapy hours and time of admission. If a unit does not provide therapy on the weekend, then the admission date of the patient will have a large impact on the hours of therapy they might receive in a 7-day period. For example, if the patient is admitted on a Friday and has a 10-day LOS, they will miss 4 days of therapy due to no therapy on the weekend. If that same patient is admitted on a Monday, they would only miss 2 days of therapy as their LOS only falls along a single weekend. The impact of admission date on therapy amount is not addressed within this model as this model assumed therapy can be offered on all day but this variable could be explored in further development of this LP model.

In the current LP model, the relationship between therapy time and length of stay is based on previously published work. There may have been other confounding factors not considered by the authors which may contribute to the change in length of stay with increased therapy time. For future validation, it would be beneficial to look at primary data on therapy time and length of stay to determine the relationship between the two.

5.5 Areas for Future Research

Given the limited evidence for a clear relationship between therapy time and length of stay, future studies should look at quantifying this relationship. This linear programming model can be expanded to capture additional complexities of the relationship between length of stay, therapy time, patient responsiveness, and therapist efficacy. A more informative methodology may involve using simulation models.

Simulation models can be used to create theoretical models of a system which can be manipulated to test how changes may impact the system. Specifically, a discrete event simulation model could be used to investigate issues related to optimization, prediction, and comparison of the stroke rehabilitation system. There are a variety of ways to investigate some of the issues identified in the stroke rehabilitation system. For example, the issues of providing enough therapy could theoretically be solved by hiring more therapists, by utilizing therapy assistants, by using group therapy, by diverting patients who have milder disabilities to community rehabilitation or by minimizing delayed discharge. Each of these practical solutions will have different consequences, some of which are anticipated and others which may be surprising. The development of a discrete event simulation model allows for reduced uncertainty when making decisions on possible changes.

Chapter 6: Conclusions

Results from the LP model developed in the thesis and the Canadian guidelines recommendation to provide at least 3 hours of therapy per day indicate that the current practice in Canada is neither providing patients with the best care nor saving money for the healthcare system. While it is good for individual clinicians to be informed about the benefits of achieving the best practice guidelines for therapy time, it is critical to recognize the level at which change must occur for best practice guidelines to be implemented. When contextualizing the result from this model with current literature in stroke rehabilitation, it seems the main barrier to patients receiving the best practice therapy is at the organizational level. Components such as limited number of staff, rehabilitation beds and inefficient flow through the stroke care pathway impede implementation of best practice amounts of therapy. As healthcare progresses, it is important that research is carried out on these factors, published, widely shared and implemented as simple changes may have significant impact on the quality of life of a patient after a stroke.

References

- Adamson, J., Beswick, A., & Ebrahim, S. (2004). Is stroke the most common cause of disability? *Journal of Stroke and Cerebrovascular Diseases: The Official Journal* of National Stroke Association, 13(4), 171–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2004.06.003
- Barrett, M., Snow, J. C., Kirkland, M. C., Kelly, L. P., Gehue, M., Downer, M. B., McCarthy, J., & Ploughman, M. (2018). Excessive sedentary time during inpatient stroke rehabilitation. *Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation*, 25(5), 366–374. https://doi.org/10.1080/10749357.2018.1458461
- Bernhardt, J., Urimubenshi, G., Gandhi, D. B. C., & Eng, J. J. (2020). Stroke rehabilitation in low-income and middle-income countries: A call to action. *The Lancet*, 396(10260), 1452–1462. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31313-1
- Black, T. M., Soltis, T., & Bartlett, C. (1999). Using the Functional Independence Measure instrument to predict stroke rehabilitation outcomes. *Rehabilitation Nursing*, 24(3), 109–115. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2048-7940.1999.tb02151.x
- Black-Schaffer, R. M., & Winston, C. (2004). Age and functional outcome after stroke. *Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation*, 11(2), 23–32. https://doi.org/10.1310/DNJU-9VUH-BXU2-DJYU
- Braaksma, A., Kortbeek, N., Post, G. F., & Nollet, F. (2014). Integral multidisciplinary rehabilitation treatment planning. *Operations Research for Health Care*, 3(3), 145–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orhc.2014.02.001
- Burton, C. R., Horne, M., Woodward-Nutt, K., Bowen, A., & Tyrrell, P. (2015). What is rehabilitation potential? Development of a theoretical model through the accounts of healthcare professionals working in stroke rehabilitation services. *Disability* and Rehabilitation, 37(21), 1955–1960. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638288.2014.991454

Canadian Stroke Network. (2011). The Quality of Stroke Care in Canada (pp. 1–59).

Chan, B. (2015). Effect of Increased Intensity of Physiotherapy on Patient Outcomes After Stroke: An Economic Literature Review and Cost-Effectiveness Analysis. *Ontario Health Technology Assessment Series*, 15(7), 1–43.

- Chemweno, P., Thijs, V., Pintelon, L., & Van Horenbeek, A. (2014). Discrete event simulation case study: Diagnostic path for stroke patients in a stroke unit. *Simulation Modelling Practice and Theory*, 48, 45–57.
- Chevalley, O., Truijen, S., Saeys, W., & Opsommer, E. (2021). Socio-environmental predictive factors for discharge destination after inpatient rehabilitation in patients with stroke: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 0(0), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2021.1923838
- Churilov, L., Fridriksdottir, A., Keshtkaran, M., Mosley, I., Flitman, A., & Dewey, H. M. (2013). Decision support in pre-hospital stroke care operations: A case of using simulation to improve eligibility of acute stroke patients for thrombolysis treatment. *Computers & Operations Research*, 40(9), 2208–2218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cor.2012.06.012
- Crocker, T., Forster, A., Young, J., Brown, L., Ozer, S., Smith, J., Green, J., Hardy, J., Burns, E., Glidewell, E., & Greenwood, D. C. (2013). Physical rehabilitation for older people in long-term care. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2013(2). https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD004294.pub3
- Denti, I., Agosti, M., & Franceschini, M. (2008). Outcome predictors of rehabilitation for first stroke in the elderly. *European Journal of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine*, 44(1), 3–11.
- Di Carlo, A. (2009). Human and economic burden of stroke. *Age and Ageing*, *38*(1), 4–5. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afn282
- Duncan, P. W., Samsa, G. P., Weinberger, M., Goldstein, L. B., Bonito, A., Witter, D. M., Enarson, C., & Matchar, D. (1997). Health status of individuals with mild stroke. *Stroke*, 28(4), 740–745. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.str.28.4.740
- Edwards, J. D., Kapoor, A., Linkewich, E., & Swartz, R. H. (2018). Return to work after young stroke: A systematic review. *International Journal of Stroke: Official Journal of the International Stroke Society*, 13(3), 243–256. https://doi.org/10.1177/1747493017743059
- Fakhimi, M., & Probert, J. (2013). Operations research within UK healthcare: A review. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 26(1), 21–49. https://doi.org/10.1108/17410391311289532

- Federici, S., Bracalenti, M., Meloni, F., & Luciano, J. V. (2017). World Health Organization disability assessment schedule 2.0: An international systematic review. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 39(23), 2347–2380. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2016.1223177
- Foley, N., Mcclure, J. A., Meyer, M., Salter, K., Bureau, Y., & Teasell, R. (2012). Inpatient rehabilitation following stroke: Amount of therapy received and associations with functional recovery. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 34(25), 2132–2138. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638288.2012.676145
- Gittins, M., Vail, A., Bowen, A., Lugo-Palacios, D., Paley, L., Bray, B., Gannon, B., & Tyson, S. (2020). Factors influencing the amount of therapy received during inpatient stroke care: An analysis of data from the UK Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 34(7), 981–991. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269215520927454
- Güler, M. G. (2013). A hierarchical goal programming model for scheduling the outpatient clinics. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 40(12), 4906–4914. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2013.02.015
- Hachinski, V., Einhäupl, K., Ganten, D., Alladi, S., Brayne, C., Stephan, B. C. M., Sweeney, M. D., Zlokovic, B., Iturria-Medina, Y., Iadecola, C., Nishimura, N., Schaffer, C. B., Whitehead, S. N., Black, S. E., Østergaard, L., Wardlaw, J., Greenberg, S., Friberg, L., Norrving, B., ... Khachaturian, Z. S. (2019). Preventing dementia by preventing stroke: The Berlin Manifesto. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 15(7), 961–984. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2019.06.001
- Hackett, M. L., Yapa, C., Parag, V., & Anderson, C. S. (2005). Frequency of depression after stroke: A systematic review of observational studies. *Stroke*, *36*(6), 1330– 1340. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.STR.0000165928.19135.35
- Hahn, N. (2019). Physician-led quality improvement project to enhance delivery of stroke therapy in inpatient rehabilitation. *International Journal of Stroke*, *14*(3), 33–33.
- Hakkennes, S., Hill, K. D., Brock, K., Bernhardt, J., & Churilov, L. (2012). Accessing inpatient rehabilitation after acute severe stroke: Age, mobility, prestroke function and hospital unit are associated with discharge to inpatient rehabilitation. *International Journal of Rehabilitation Research*, 35(4), 323–329. https://doi.org/10.1097/MRR.0b013e328355dd00

- Hakkennes, S., Hill, K. D., Brock, K., Bernhardt, J., & Churilov, L. (2013). Selection for inpatient rehabilitation after severe stroke: What factors influence rehabilitation assessor decision making ? *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, 45(1), 24–31. https://doi.org/10.2340/16501977-1065
- Hakkennes, S. J., Brock, K., & Hill, K. D. (2011). Selection for inpatient rehabilitation after acute stroke: A systematic review of the literature. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 92(12), 2057–2070. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2011.07.189
- Harrison, J., & Kirkpatrick, N. (2009). Evaluating the efficiency of inpatient rehabilitation facilities under the prospective payment system. *Journal of Health Care Finance*, *36*(1), 1–14.
- Hartman-Maeir, A., Soroker, N., Ring, H., Avni, N., & Katz, N. (2007). Activities, participation and satisfaction one-year post stroke. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 29(7), 559–566. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638280600924996
- Heart and Stroke Foundation. (2015). Table 1: Canadian Stroke Best Practice Recommendations Stroke Rehabilitation Screening and Assessment Tools a. Tools to Assess Functional Capacity and Activities of Daily Living (Issue December, pp. 1–16). Heart and Stroke Foundation. https://www.heartandstroke.ca/-/media/1stroke-best-practices/rehabilitation/csbpr2015_-table-1_stroke-rehabilitationscreening-and-assessmenttools_2015december8.ashx?rev=8021925e15d84351930f5c55114b2990&hash=D 724EB948E7FCB0C208226E173DDD442
- Heart and Stroke Foundation. (2019). (*Dis*) connected: 2019 Report on Heart, Stroke and Vasicular Cognitive Impairment (pp. 1–24). The Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada.
- Hebert, D., Lindsay, M. P., Mcintyre, A., Kirton, A., Rumney, P. G., Bagg, S., Bayley, M., Dowlatshahi, D., Dukelow, S., Garnhum, M., Glasser, E., Halabi, M., Kang, E., Mackay-lyons, M., Martino, R., Rochette, A., Rowe, S., Salbach, N., Semenko, B., ... Dilenge, M. (2016). Canadian stroke best practice recommendations: Stroke rehabilitation practice guidelines, update 2015. *International Journal of Stroke*, *11*(4), 459–484. https://doi.org/10.1177/1747493016643553
- Hinkle, J. L., McClaran, J., Davies, J., & Ng, D. (2010). Reliability and validity of the adult Alpha Functional Independence measure instrument in England. *Journal of Neuroscience Nursing*, 42(1), 12–18. https://doi.org/10.1097/JNN.0b013e3181c1fd99

- Holodinsky, J. K., Lindsay, P., Yu, A. Y. X., Ganesh, A., Joundi, R. A., & Hill, M. D. (2022). Estimating the Number of Hospital or Emergency Department
 Presentations for Stroke in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Neurological Sciences*, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1017/cjn.2022.338
- Hu, M. H., Hsu, S. S., Yip, P. K., Jeng, J. S., & Wang, Y. H. (2010). Early and intensive rehabilitation predicts good functional outcomes in patients admitted to the stroke intensive care unit. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 32(15), 1251–1259. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638280903464448
- Janzen, S., McIntyre, A., Richardson, M., Britt, E., & Teasell, R. (2016). Building a Knowledge to Action Program in Stroke Rehabilitation. *The Canadian Journal of Neurological Sciences. Le Journal Canadien Des Sciences Neurologiques*, 43(5), 619–625. https://doi.org/10.1017/cjn.2016.258
- Kamo, T., Momosaki, R., Suzuki, K., Asahi, R., Azami, M., Ogihara, H., & Nishida, Y. (2019). Effectiveness of Intensive Rehabilitation Therapy on Functional Outcomes After Stroke: A Propensity Score Analysis Based on Japan Rehabilitation Database. *Journal of Stroke and Cerebrovascular Diseases*, 28(9), 2537–2542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2019.06.007
- Krueger, H., Koot, J., Hall, R. E., O'Callaghan, C., Bayley, M., & Corbett, D. (2015).
 Prevalence of Individuals Experiencing the Effects of Stroke in Canada: Trends and Projections. *Stroke*, 46(8), 2226–2231.
 https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.115.009616
- Kutlubaev, M. A., & Hackett, M. L. (2014). Part II: Predictors of depression after stroke and impact of depression on stroke outcome: An updated systematic review of observational studies. *International Journal of Stroke*, 9(8), 1026–1036. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijs.12356
- Kwakkel, G., Wagenaar, R. C., Koelman, T. W., Lankhorst, G. J., & Koetsier, J. C. (1997). Effects of Intensity of Rehabilitation After Stroke. *Stroke*, 28(8), 1550– 1556. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.STR.28.8.1550
- Kwon, S., Hartzema, A. G., Duncan, P. W., & Min-Lai, S. (2004). Disability Measures in Stroke. *Stroke*, 35(4), 918–923. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.STR.0000119385.56094.32
- Ladwig, S., & Werheid, K. (2020). Determinants of Antidepressant Treatment and Outpatient Rehabilitation Within the First Year After Stroke. *Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891988720973749

- Lai, W., Buttineau, M., Harvey, J. K., Pucci, R. A., Wong, A. P. M., Dell'Erario, L., Bosnyak, S., Reid, S., & Salbach, N. M. (2017). Clinical and psychosocial predictors of exceeding target length of stay during inpatient stroke rehabilitation. *Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation*, 24(7), 510–516. https://doi.org/10.1080/10749357.2017.1325589
- Langhorne, P., Bernhardt, J., & Kwakkel, G. (2011). Stroke rehabilitation. *The Lancet*, 377(9778), 1693–1702. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60325-5
- Langhorne, P., Cadilah, D., Feigin, D., Grieve, R., & Liu, M. (2002). How should stroke services be organised ? *Lancet Neurology*, 1(May), 62–68.
- Last, N., Packham, T. L., Gewurtz, R. E., Letts, L. J., & Harris, J. E. (2022). Exploring patient perspectives of barriers and facilitators to participating in hospital-based stroke rehabilitation. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 44(16), 4201–4210. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2021.1881830
- Laver, K. E., Adey-Wakeling, Z., Crotty, M., Lannin, N. A., George, S., & Sherrington, C. (2020). Telerehabilitation services for stroke. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2020(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD010255.pub3
- Luk, J. K. H., Cheung, R. T. F., Ho, S. L., & Li, L. (2006). Does age predict outcome in stroke rehabilitation? A study of 878 Chinese subjects. *Cerebrovascular Diseases*, 21(4), 229–234. https://doi.org/10.1159/000091219
- Lynch, E. A., Cadilhac, D. A., Luker, J. A., & Hillier, S. L. (2017). Inequities in access to inpatient rehabilitation after stroke: An international scoping review. *Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation*, 24(8), 619–626. https://doi.org/10.1080/10749357.2017.1366010
- Lynch, E. A., Mackintosh, S., Luker, J. A., & Hillier, S. L. (2019). Access to rehabilitation for patients with stroke in Australia. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 210(1), 21–26. https://doi.org/10.5694/mja2.12034
- Manson, N. (2006). Is operations research really research? *ORiON*, 22(2), 155–180. https://doi.org/10.5784/22-2-40
- McDonell, I., Barr, C., & Van Den Berg, M. (2023). Implementing circuit class training can increase therapy time and functional independence in people with stroke receiving inpatient rehabilitation: Findings from a retrospective observational clinical audit. *Physiotherapy Theory and Practice*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593985.2023.2172634
Meyer, G. C., Taylor, J. W., & Damewood, E. Z. (1992). Using the Operations Management Modeling Technique of Linear Programming to Determine Optimal Case Mix of Three Cardiac Services. *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation and Prevention*, *12*(6). https://journals.lww.com/jcrjournal/Fulltext/1992/11000/Using_the_Operations_ Management_Modeling_Technique.6.aspx

- Meyer, M., Britt, E., McHale, H. A., & Teasell, R. (2012). Length of stay benchmarks for inpatient rehabilitation after stroke. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 34(13), 1077– 1081. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638288.2011.631681
- Meyer, M., O'Callaghan, C., Kelloway, L., Hall, R., Teasell, R., Meyer, S., Allen, L., & Leci, E. (2012). The Impact of Moving to Stroke Rehabilitation Best Practices in Ontario. In *Ontario's Stoke Reference Group* (pp. 1–66). Ontario Stroke Network.
- Mittmann, N., Seung, S. J., Hill, M. D., Phillips, S. J., Hachinski, V., Coté, R., Buck, B. H., Mackey, A., Gladstone, D. J., Howse, D. C., Shuaib, A., & Sharma, M. (2012). Impact of Disability Status on Ischemic Stroke Costs in Canada in the First Year. *Canadian Journal of Neurological Sciences*, *39*(6), 793–800. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0317167100015638
- Nagayama, H., Tomori, K., Ikeda, K., & Yamauchi, K. (2021). Medical Costs and Readmissions After Intensive Poststroke Rehabilitation: Japanese Claims Data. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, 22(8), 1762-1766.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2020.12.015

Ontario Stroke Network. (2012). FACT SHEET : Stroke Statistics (pp. 1-3).

- Ontario Stroke Network. (2015). *Timely transfer of appropriate patients from acute facilities to rehabilitation: Using the AlphaFIM* ® *Instrument to support best practice in stroke care* (Issue November, pp. 1–2).
- Ouellette, D. S., Timple, C., Kaplan, S. E., Rosenberg, S. S., & Rosario, E. R. (2015). Predicting discharge destination with admission outcome scores in stroke patients. *NeuroRehabilitation*, 37(2), 173–179. https://doi.org/10.3233/NRE-151250
- Paolucci, S., Antonucci, G., Grasso, M. G., Morelli, D., Troisi, E., Coiro, P., & Bragoni, M. (2000). Early versus delayed inpatient stroke rehabilitation: A matched comparison conducted in Italy. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, *81*(6), 695–700. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-9993(00)90095-9

- Pereira, S., Foley, N., Salter, K., McClure, J. A., Meyer, M., Brown, J., Speechley, M., & Teasell, R. (2014). Discharge destination of individuals with severe stroke undergoing rehabilitation: A predictive model. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 36(9), 727–731. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638288.2014.902510
- Putman, K., De Wit, L., Schupp, W., Beyens, H., Dejaeger, E., De Weerdt, W., Feys, H., Jenni, W., Louckx, F., & Leys, M. (2007). Inpatient stroke rehabilitation: A comparative study of admission criteria to stroke rehabilitation units in four European centres. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, 39(1), 21–26. https://doi.org/10.2340/16501977-0006
- Putman, K., de Wit, L., Schupp, W., Ilse, B., Berman, P., Connell, L., Dejaeger, E., de Meyer, A.-M., de Weerdt, W., Feys, H., Walter, J., Lincoln, N., Louckx, F., Anneleen, M., Birgit, S., Smith, B., & Leys, M. (2006). Use of time by physiotherapists and occupational therapists in a stroke rehabilitation unit: A comparison between four European rehabilitation centres. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 28(22), 1417–1424. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638280600638216
- Renner, C. I., Outermans, J., Ludwig, R., Brendel, C., Kwakkel, G., & Hummelsheim, H. (2016). Group therapy task training versus individual task training during inpatient stroke rehabilitation: A randomised controlled trial. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 30(7), 637–648. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269215515600206
- Richards, C. L., Malouin, F., Nadeau, S., Fung, J., D'Amours, L., Perez, C., & Durand, A. (2018). Amount and content of sensorimotor therapy delivered in three stroke rehabilitation units in Quebec, Canada. *Physiotherapy Canada*, 70(2), 120–132. https://doi.org/10.3138/ptc.2016-66
- Rosewilliam, S., Roskell, C. A., & Pandyan, A. D. (2011). A systematic review and synthesis of the quantitative and qualitative evidence behind patient-centred goal setting in stroke rehabilitation. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 25(6), 501–514. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269215510394467
- Saji, N., Kimura, K., Ohsaka, G., Higashi, Y., Teramoto, Y., Usui, M., & Kita, Y. (2015). Functional independence measure scores predict level of long-term care required by patients after stroke: A multicenter retrospective cohort study. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 37(4), 331–337. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638288.2014.918195
- Schneider, E. J., Lannin, N. A., Ada, L., & Schmidt, J. (2016). Increasing the amount of usual rehabilitation improves activity after stroke: A systematic review. *Journal of Physiotherapy*, 62(4), 182–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphys.2016.08.006

- Shafei, I., Karnon, J., & Crotty, M. (2022). Quality Improvement in Stroke Rehabilitation: A Scoping Review. *Journal of Multidisciplinary Healthcare*, 15, 2913–2931. https://doi.org/10.2147/JMDH.S389567
- Spackman, S. S., & JG, B. (2016). Correlation of the Index of Activities of Daily Living (Index of ADOH) with the Functional Independence Measure (FIM) in Older Adults. *Journal of Gerontology & Geriatric Research*, 05(02). https://doi.org/10.4172/2167-7182.1000284
- Stillman, G., Granger, C., & Niewczyk, P. (2009). Projecting Function of Stroke Patients in Rehabilitation Using the AlphaFIM Instrument in Acute Care. *PM and R*, 1(3), 234–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmrj.2008.10.014
- Stroke Unit Trialist' Collaboration. (2013). Organised inpatient (stroke unit) care for stroke. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 2013(9). https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD000197.pub3
- Sugavanam, T., Mead, G., Bulley, C., Donaghy, M., & Van Wijck, F. (2013). The effects and experiences of goal setting in stroke rehabilitation-a systematic review. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 35(3), 177–190. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638288.2012.690501
- Sutherland, J. M., & Walker, J. (2008). Challenges of rehabilitation case mix measurement in Ontario hospitals. *Health Policy*, 85(3), 336–348. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2007.09.006
- Tan, W. S., Chong, W. F., Chua, K. S. G., Heng, B. H., & Chan, K. F. (2010). Factors associated with delayed discharges after inpatient stroke rehabilitation in Singapore. *Annals of the Academy of Medicine Singapore*, 39(6), 435–441.
- Tanwir, S., Montgomery, K., Chari, V., & Nesathurai, S. (2014). Stroke rehabilitation:
 Availability of a family member as a caregiver and discharge destination.
 European Journal of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine, 50(3), 355–362.
- Teasell, R., Meyer, M. J., Foley, N., Salter, K., & Willems, D. (2009). Stroke rehabilitation in Canada: A work In progress. *Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation*, 16(1), 11–19. https://doi.org/10.1310/tsr1601-11
- Teasell, R., Meyer, M. J., McClure, A., Pan, C., Murie-Fernandez, M., Foley, N., & Salter, K. (2009). Stroke rehabilitation: An international perspective. *Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation*, 16(1), 44–56. https://doi.org/10.1310/tsr1601-44

- Teasell, R. W., Foley, N. C., Salter, K. L., & Jutai, J. W. (2008). A Blueprint for Transforming Stroke Rehabilitation Care in Canada: The Case for Change. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 89(3), 575–578. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APMR.2007.08.164
- Timbeck, R. J., & Spaulding, S. J. (2004). Ability of the Functional Independence Measure TM to Predict Rehabilitation Outcomes After Stroke: A Review of the Literature. *Physical & Occupational Therapy in Geriatrics*, 22(1), 63–76. https://doi.org/10.1080/J148v22n01
- Truelsen, T., Begg, S., & Mathers, C. (2006). The global burden of cerebrovascular disease. In *WHO Discussion Paper*. World Health Organization.
- Tyagi, S., Koh, G. C.-H., Nan, L., Tan, K. B., Hoenig, H., Matchar, D. B., Yoong, J.,
 Finkelstein, E. A., Lee, K. E., Venketasubramanian, N., Menon, E., Chan, K. M.,
 De Silva, D. A., Yap, P., Tan, B. Y., Chew, E., Young, S. H., Ng, Y. S., Tu, T. M.,
 ... Tan, C. S. (2018). Healthcare utilization and cost trajectories post-stroke: Role
 of caregiver and stroke factors. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1), 881.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3696-3
- van der Zee, C. H., Visser-Meily, J. M. A., Lindeman, E., Jaap Kappelle, L., & Post, M. W. M. (2013). Participation in the Chronic Phase of Stroke. *Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation*, 20(1), 52–61. https://doi.org/10.1310/tsr2001-52
- Vratsistas-Curto, A., McCluskey, A., & Schurr, K. (2017). Use of audit, feedback and education increased guideline implementation in a multidisciplinary stroke unit. *BMJ Open Quality*, 6(2), e000212. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjoq-2017-000212
- Wang, H., Camicia, M., Terdiman, J., Mannava, M. K., Sidney, S., & Sandel, M. E. (2013a). Daily Treatment Time and Functional Gains of Stroke Patients During Inpatient Rehabilitation. *PM and R*, 5(2), 122–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmrj.2012.08.013
- Wang, H., Camicia, M., Terdiman, J., Mannava, M. K., Sidney, S., & Sandel, M. E. (2013b). Daily treatment time and functional gains of stroke patients during inpatient rehabilitation. *PM & R: The Journal of Injury, Function, and Rehabilitation*, 5(2), 122–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmrj.2012.08.013
- Wang, S. P., Hsieh, Y. K., Zhuang, Z. Y., & Ou, N. C. (2014). Solving an outpatient nurse scheduling problem by binary goal programming. *Journal of Industrial and Production Engineering*, 31(1), 41–50. https://doi.org/10.1080/21681015.2014.881425

- Warlow, C. P. (1998). Epidemiology of stroke. *The Lancet*, *352*, S1–S4. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(98)90086-1
- Willems, D., Salter, K., Meyer, M., McClure, A., Teasell, R., & Foley, N. (2012). Determining the Need for In-Patient Rehabilitation Services Post-Stroke: Results from Eight Ontario Hospitals. *Healthcare Policy*, 7(3), 105–118.
- Wong, J. S., Brooks, D., & Mansfield, A. (2016). Do Falls Experienced During Inpatient Stroke Rehabilitation Affect Length of Stay, Functional Status, and Discharge Destination? Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 97(4), 561–566. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2015.12.005